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OBJECTS OF THE SOCIETY

() To maintain all features of Chelsea having beauty
or historical interest, unless a proved necessity re-
quires their removal.

(2) To preserve the open spaces for the health of the
community.

(3) Where clearances are necessary, to promote the
construction of substituted buildings that will be
a credit to Chelsea.

(4) To prevent the dishigurement of streets and open
spaces by ugly advertisements or otherwise.

(5) To protect the residents from smoke, noises and
other nuisances arising from industrial premises;
and generally.

(6) To preserve and amplify the amenities of Chelsea.

Early information i1s of the greatest importance for
effective action, and members are asked to inform the
Council at once, through the Hon. Secretary, of any plans
or proposals of which they may hear that seem to come
within the scope of the objects of the Society.

The Council would consider such matters, obtain further
information, and, if thought advisable, make such
suggestions or protests on behalf of the Society as seem to
them desirable.

CONDITIONS OF MEMBERSHIP

Membership is open to all who agree with the objects of
the Society, on payment of either

(a) a life subscription, without an entrance fee, of

£55s.0d.; or

(b) an entrance fee of 10s. and annual subscription of
10s. which, it is requested, might be paid by
banker’s order.

It is hoped that, whenever possible, more than the pre-
scribed minimum subscription will be given.

The subscription years runs from the Ist February.
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THE CHELSEA SOCIETY
Chairman’s Report for 1953

DEATH OF HER MAJESTY QUEEN MARY

Late on the evening of 24th March, 1953, Her Majesty
Queen Mary, the Queen Mother, passed peacefully away
at Marlborough House. Members of the Chelsea Society
felt a deep sense of loss for Her late Majesty, who had
always shown a gracious interest in their work and had
expressed appreciation of some of their Annual Reports.
On the following day your Chairman on behalf of the
Society recorded an expression of sympathy by signing
the book at Buckingham Palace provided for the purpose.

Her LATE MaJEsTY QUEEN MARY’'Ss INTEREST IN THE WORK
OF THE SOCIETY

Her late Majesty Queen Mary's interest in the work of
the Society extended over a long period, and was an inspira-
tion to the whole cause of fostering and preserving the
things of beauty which give pleasure to the locality.
In June, 1924, the Society's Founder, Reginald Elunt,
organised the first important Exhibition of Chelsea China
at the Town Hall and edited the Cheyne Book of Chelsea
China and Pottery (to become a standard book on its sub-
ject). The book was prefaced by these words :—

To
THE QUEEN
by Her Majesty's gracious permission
This Record
of an Exhibition in which
she was keenly interested
is loyally

Dedicated,

Most of those responsible for this exhibition and its
record formed the nucleus from which the Chelsea Society
was founded three years later in 1927. At the first meet-
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ing of the Council of the Society after their foundation, it
was decided to hold an exhibition illustrative of Chelsea,
past and present. His Majesty King George V headed the
list of Exhibitors and Her Majesty Queen Mary visited
“The Chelsea Exhibition 1927, as it was called, on [6th
June of that year, making many interested enquiries about
the pictures and Chelsea China. (See Annual Report 1928).
In 1948 Her late Majesty graciously lent seven pieces from
her famous collection of Chelsea China to the Worlds End
Exhibition of Old Chelsea and visited it upon its opening
day. She also lent to the Loan Exhibition of Chelsea
China at the Royal Hospital in 1951 some remarkable pieces
including 53 little Chelsea seals. She visited the Exhibition
and spent a long time examining the exhibits, and later
graciously accepted from the Society a copy of Dr. G. C.
Williamson's Imperial Russian Dinner Service, describing
the famous Dinner Service decorated in Chelsea at the
workshop which Thomas Bentley, partner of Josiah
Wedgwood, established in 1770 and which continued to
1785 on a site now occupied by Glebe Place.

The Chelsea Society will miss the gracious interest of
Her late Majesty and the influence she had upon the
popular regard for those things of beauty, dignity and
historic importance which it is the aim and object of the
Society to preserve.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
In the afternoon of 24th March, 1953, the Annual General
Meeting of the Chelsea Society for 1952 took place at
Crosby Hall. Minutes of the meeting are to be found on
pages

TOURNAI AND CHELSEA PORCELAIN EXHIBITION

His Royal Highness the Prince de Liége graciously
attended the vernissage of the Tournai and Chelsea Porce-
lain Exhibition on 3rd June, 1953 and expressed great

interest in the porcelain of both factories. The Exhibition
was the Belgian Institute’s contribution to the celebrations
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of Coronation summer and was sponsored by the Belgian
Ministry of Education and the Anglo-Belgian Cultural
Convention in close association with the Chelsea Society.
It was organised by a Committee in each country. The
Chairman in Belgium was Madame Faider-Feytmans,
Ph.D., Conservateur of the Musée de Mariemont (Hainaut),
who also wrote the article on Tournai porcelain for the
catalogue. The Hon. Secretary in Belgium was Madame
Kitty Rueff and the Advisor to the Exhibition Monsieur
Lucien Delplace. In England the Chairman of the Com-
mittee was Monsieur Jean Nieuwenhuys, Counsellor (now
Minister) at the Belgian Embassy, with Professor J.
Dechamps (President of the Belgian Institute) as Vice-
Chairman. Monsieur Jacques Wauters was Hon. Treasurer,
and the Hon. Secretary Mrs. Basil Marsden-Smedley. The
Chelsea Society was represented on this Committee by
your Chairman. The catalogue, which was copiously illus-
trated, was edited by Mr. William King, who also wrote
the article in it on Chelsea Porcelain. His Excellency the
Belgian Ambassador in London, the Marquis du Parc
Locmaria wrote the foreword in which he paid tribute to
the work of the Chelsea Society. The blocks for the
Tournai illustrations were lent by Monsieur Louis Caster-
man of Teournai, a member of the Belgian Committee and
publisher of the standard work cn Tournai porcelain,
namely Soil et Delplace La Manufacture Impériale et
Royale de Porcelaine de Tournay. Monsieur Casterman has
generously allowed the use of two of these blocks in the
present Report. (See Frontispiece and page 36).

The private view was held on 4th June, and the Exhibi-
tion was open to the public from the 5th June to 4th July.
During that time, M. Nieuwenhuys gave two parties after
the Exhibition had closed for the evening. About 3,000
people visited the Exhibition. There were excellent Press
reviews, and some pieces were shown on a Television
programme.

Several members of the Society loaned exhibits, and
many acted as stewards. A full account of the Exhibition
with illustrations appears on pages 32 to 40.
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PORCELAIN DECORATED WITH
SIR HANS SLOANE'S PLANTS

[t is a point of some interest to know how the variously
decorated products of the Chelsea porcelain works origin-
ated and were described and sold in the eighteenth century.
After considerable research on behalf of the Society a
photograph has been obtained of an advertisement in
Faulkner's Dublin Journal July 1-4, 1758, and is here
reproduced for the first time. The descriptive term **Sir
Hans Sloane’s plants™, applied to Chelsea china decorated
with botanical specimens, is familiar nowadays in every
exhibition and sale catalogue. A very fine pair of ‘'Sir
Hans Sloane’ flower plates, belonging to Her Majesty
Queen Elizabeth, the Queen Mother, and lent to the

EXTRACT FROM FAWKENER'S DUBLIN JOURNAL
Ist July, 1758.

UST imjo ted; tobe foid by Auttion; at Mr. Young's Rooms oppolite

J . Lucas's op Cork-hidt, "on Tuefday the 4:h'of July, ard the pliowing
Days, a curious Cole&tion of ernamen al China Figures of the beft Models,
Buskets, Leayes, Fruit, &c, all beant fully enamg!led 3. a moft magnificent
Epa-nge in :pree_l’mi_{ cn L-oking-ylafs F ames, ornsmented with fine
Fiow.rs, made end eramelled from Naturé, with Frui Figires, &, -for a
Defarts fome of the moft curious Irincles ind Geratidoles, oinaraentyd
with Flowers and Figurer, Net g7 pofed t0°8ale, thiee vary fice Tureens of
¢ Chelfea China, oge of the Model of a oay’s Hesd,. ind cne in ‘curisiys
Phints, with Table Plaes, Soup Pletes, and Defort Plate:, enamelled from
Si-Hany 8loah's Plante, fome beautifal Effence Fotsin a new TaRe, with
Jers, Reajeeys, &€ beb—Note, Sundry Saets of ‘ufefal Chins. The$ile
fo brgn 2t 12 0'Clock. Ca alogurs to be had at the Plice ot Sa'e. 1"+ ¢ »

Text as follows:

Just imported, to be sold by Auction, at Mr. Young's Rooms opposite
Lucas’s on Cork-hill, on Tuesday the 4th of July, and the following
Days, a curious Collection of ornamental China Figures of the best
Models, Baskets, Leaves, Fruit, &c. all beautifully enamelled; a most
magnificient Eparnge in three parts, on Looking-glass I'rames, orna-
mented with fine Flowers, made and enamelled from Nature, with Fruit
Figures, &c. for a Desart; some of the most curious Branches and
Gerandoles, ornamented with Flowers and Figures, yet exposed to Sale,
three very fine Tureens of the Chelsea China, one of the Model of a
Boar’s Head, and one in curious Plants with Table Plates, Soup Plates,
and Desart Plates, enamelled from Sir Hans Sloan’s Plants, some
beautiful Essence Pots in a new Tasle, with Jar, Beakers, &c., &c.—
Note, Sundry Sorts of useful China. The Sale to begin at 12 o'Clock.
Catalogues to be had at the Place of Sale.
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Chelsea China Exhibition, 1951, was illustrated in the
Annual Report, 1952, on page 24. lts re-introduction as a
modern descriptive term is doubtless due to the research
of Mr. M. S. Dudley Westropp, formerly of the National
Museum of Ireland. He passed the information on to the
late Dr. Bellamy Gardner who included it in a Paper read
to the English Porcelain Circle on 19th January, 1931
(Transactions No. IV 1932, page 22). Hard by the Chelsea
China factory there were not only the Sir Hans Sloane
collection of botanical specimens (after 1753 transferred
following his Will and an Act of Parliament to a new
institution created for this purpose, namely the DBritish
Museum), but also the famous Physic Garden. In 1722 Sir
Hans Sloane had shown himself the patron of botanical
study in protecting this garden by converting the tenancy
into a perpetual lease, subject to conditions ensuring the
growth and collection of botanical specimens. The Physic
Garden under his patronage flourished and became a centre
of botanical study. In 1735, Linnaeus visited the Garden.
In the Rambler, No. 19 for Tuesday, 22nd May, 1750
Dr. Johnson described the visit of Polyphilus to the Garden
to see a new plant in flower. It was used by many cele-
brated flower painters. [t was from Physic Garden botanical
specimens that Elizabeth Blackwell laboriously compiled
her exquisitely illustrated Curious Herbal, 1737. Dr. Bellamy
Gardner mentioned in his paper, referred to above, in 1724
Philip Miller, ““Gardener to the Worshipful Company of
Apothecaries at their Botanic Gardens at Chelsea, published
a compendious Gardener’s Dictionary which obtained a
European vogue; and later on, with the assistance of Sir
Hans Sloane, two folio volumes entitled Figures of Plantes,
containing 300 coloured pictures of examples in the Physic
Garden, many of the engraved plates being dated 1755."
Comparing certain Chelsea plates from the collection of
Colonel and Mrs. Dickson with the engravings, Dr. Bellamy
Gardner went on to say one, the Acanthus spinosus,
Plate IX, was discovered to have been copied in every
detail, including the dissections of the plant, from Plate
VII (engraved by T. Jefferys, and published according to
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the Act by P. Miller April 29th, 1755) Vol. i, of Miller’s
later book.” One of the few surviving copies of this book,
the full title of which is Figures of the most Beautiful, Use-
ful and Uncommon Plantes [1755-11760, was shewn at the
Chelsea China Exhibition, 1951, open at the page illustrat-
ing the Acanthus spinosus. An Acanthus plate has been
acquired by the Victoria and Albert Museum and is at
present on view in room [39. The paintings on the other
Chelsea plates examined by Dr. Bellamy Gardner “‘were
found to be portions of plants blended into very beautiful
sprays, but not capable of botanical classification, nor cor-
responding with Philip Miller’s illustrations.”” Dr. Bellamy
Cardner then suggested that “‘the probable explanation of
this want of precision is that Philip Miller supplied the
portiecns of the fresh plants from the garden to his own
artists, G. D. Ehret, R. Lancake, and others, and to the
painters of the Chelsea porcelain factory about the same
time, and that the latter grouped them into designs without
regard to botanical classification or the future difficulties
of research.”

MISS DOROTHY PALMER'S GIFT OF CHELSEA
CHINA TO THE BOROUGH

Miss Dorothy Palmer, a member of the Society, has most
generously presented seven pieces of Chelsea China to the
Borough, to enable them to be permanently on view to the
public. These were the pieces which she lent to the Society
in 1947 to be shown in the former Chelsea “‘show' house at
Number 3 Cheyne Walk. They are now to be seen in the
Victoria Gallery at the Chelsea Public Library. The Society
may recall that in 1952 regret was expressed at the decision
of the National Trust to close this ‘‘show’ house and
dispose of the freehold (see Annual Report, 1952, page 19).
It will be remembered that the Society had undertaken
responsibilities through Mr. Stewart-Jones, the then
Honorary Secretary, in the collection and arrangement of
suitable |18th century objets d’art including examples of
Chelsea China, notable among which were Miss Palmer’s
seven pieces. But for Miss Palmer’s generosity, there would
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have been no place in the Borough where Chelsea’s most
famous product was on view to the public. It is now
possible to see at close quarters specimens of the Chelsea
factory's finest work. Two goat and bee jugs are coloured
and of very fine modelling. There are three birds of brilliant

Miss Dorothy Palmer’s gift of Chelsea Porcelain

plumage and two figures. One of these figures is a grace-
fully pesed girl in ccloured dress. The other, a very rare
model, is a blue-clad boy playing the violin. It was lent
by the Berough Council to the Tournai Chelsea Exhibition,
where it was the subject of outstanding interest.

13



THE CHELSEA POTTERY

Members of the Society will remember the occasion
when Mr. and Mrs. Rawnsley and Mr. Buchanan kindly
entertained them soon after the Chelsea Pottery first opened
in Radnor Walk (4nnual Report, 1952, pages 16, 41 and 43
with illustration at page 42). It was then thought that the
pottery would develop as an atelier libre similar to those
so well known to artists and students in Paris. In fact it is
the production side that has developed furthest. A new

7", with engraved

decoration of fern foliage, painted in colours.
Mark incised, E.II R. Chelsea Pottery 1953.

Earthenware plate, diameter

Chelsea industry has begun. The emporia of London dis-
play Rawnsley pottery in great variety. Cases for ex-
port trundle away from narrow Radnor Walk. The Victoria
and Albert Museum acquired and is showing four pieces of
pottery. Other acquisitions have been made by Museums
in New York and Amsterdam. For those who like pottery
as distinct from porcelain, and they are by no means
everyone, the products of the Chelsea pottery will prove of
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great interest. The thick and rustic appearance characteristic
of so much pottery has been avoided; some of the dishes
and bowls are miraculously thin. Like all similar establish-
ments, the Chelsea Pottery has its own secrets of glaze.
Again, like all Chelsea ventures into the world of ceramics,
the mainspring of the enterprise is the availability of
Chelsea artists. The eighteenth century Chelsea china works
made use of the concentration of potential decorators in
Chelsea and it was largely this same plentiful supply of
artists that brought Thomas Bentley, Josiah Wedgwood's
partner, to set up a Wedgwood decorating establishment
in 1770 on a site now occupied by Glebe Place. As with
all pottery and porcelain establishments, the quality of the
design depends on the guality of the artists; some are good
and some not so good. It is too early yet to say much
about the quality of the work of the different artists; but
there is no doubt that many of the productions of the
Chelsea Pottery show great promise. The Chelsea Pottery
Dish illustrated opposite was made in 1953. The glazing is
peculiar to Mr. Rawnsley's establishment and is described
by him as “inlay and overlay process.”” The design con-
sists of the following wild ferns, Black Spleenwort Asplen-
ium adiantum-nigrum and Hart’s Tongue Scolopendrium
vulgare on a speckled ground.

PROPOSALS TO BUILD ON THE
CHEYNE WALK BOMB SITE

The residents in Petyt Place have complained to the
Society and to the Town Planning Authorities that their
view across the Cheyne Walk bomb site to the river will
be obstructed if the demolished houses are rebuiit. The
sites of Nos. 65 to 77 Cheyne Walk and 2 and 4 Danvers
Street were at first intended to be laid out as open space.
There was much to be said for this course as there is a
shortage of open spaces in the locality. Moreover, there
is something to be said for surrounding the old Church with
open space so that it can be better seen and also providing
a view of Crosby Hall. The Society's Annual Report 1951,

15



9l

LOMBARD
STREET,
LOOKING EAST,
IN 1862,

Drawing by
Walter Greaves
in the possession
of the

Chelsea Society,
and now on
permanent loan
to Crosby Hall

(See page 19)




page |4, shews among the gifts to the Soclety, a war-time
drawing by A. S. G. Butler, F.R.[.B.A., illustrating suggest-
ed proposals for rebuilding the environs of the old Church.
It was reproduced as a frontispiece to the late Mr. Geoffrey
Hobson's Art after the War. In the drawing a substantial
area of open space is shewn immediately opposite the old
Church. On the other hand, it should be remembered that,
until the bomb fell, the site provided homes for many
Chelsea people and, at the present time, it must be the
wish of the Society to see that as many similar homes as
possible are restored, provided it can be done with suitable
regard to the amenities of the locality. The draft Adminis-
trative County of London Development Plan, 1951, at first
shewed the whole bomb site zoned for open space, but, on
reconsideration, the London County Council re-zoned it for
residential purposes. At a later stage when the draft plan
came to be deposited with the Minister of Housing and
Local Government, he made a Direction, the effect of which
was to postpone any rebuilding on any part of this site
pending his decision as to its future use. He has in fact
withheld consent to an application to build 2 houses and
2 flats on the sites of Nos. 67 to 70 Cheyne Walk, opposite
the West Door of the old Church and immediately in front
of Petyt Place.

CHEYNE WALK BOMB SITE GARDENS

One of the happiest transformations in Chelsea has been
the flower gardens that replaced the rubbish-strewn bomb
site in Cheyne Walk between Danvers Street and Old
Church Street. It will be remembered that in 1948 the
Society suggested to the Chelsea Borough Council that if
they could come to an arrangement with the Sloane Stanley
Estate and provide some soil, the Society would undertake
to find volunteers to convert the derelict bomb site into a
garden. Thereupon the Borough Council arranged to lease
part of the Cheyne Walk bomb site at a nominal rent from
the Sloane Stanley Estate, first for three years from 29th
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September, 1948, and thereafter for the same term from
29th September, 1951. During this period the original area
was enlarged. The Society has been very fortunate in their
selection of volunteer gardeners. Each has a separate plot
and the show of flowers during the season has been
phenomenal. The arrangement has suited all parties. The
Borough Council have had the bomb site brightened up at
negligible cost, the plotholders had the fun of making the
gardens, and the public enjoyed the fine show of flowers.

HISTORY OF THE CHEYNE WALK BOMB SITE

Proposals about what to do with the bomb site serve
as a reminder of controversies that have raged about “‘this
most beautiful corner of Old Chelsea’, as Sir William
Orpen described it, writing to The Tiémes in 1928 in a fruit-
less attempt to avert the destruction of LLombard Terrace.
Lombard Terrace was the old name for the picturesque
row of houses the destruction of which was begun in 1929
to make way for the very undistinguished Terrace later
known as Nos. 65 to 77, Cheyne Walk, so scon to be
destroyed by the bomb in 194]1. The Terrace faced on to
Lombard Street, which was incorporated into the widening
when the Chelsea Embankment was built. One of the
Walter Greaves pictures presented to the Chelsea Society
by Mr. George Cross, and now on lean to Crosby Hall,
shows old Lombard Street painted from somewhere by
what i1s now the Cheyne Walk frontage to Crosby Hall,
then called Duke Street. A reproduction of this picture
is given on page 16. Another Walter Greaves’ picture repro-
duced on page 18, also given to the Society by Mr. George
Cross and also on loan to Crosby Hall, illustrates the river
frontage of the buildings on the South side of Lombard
Street. These picturesque riverside buildings were pulled
down to make way for the embankment in 1872. Protests
against the destruction of Lombard Terrace were referred
to in the Annual Report, 1928 at page 6, and the Annual
Report, 1929 at page 8, with illustrations at pages 4 and 9,
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CHEYNE WaALK BY THE OLD CHURCH IN 1817

From an etching by W. W. DBurgess of a painting by Mrs. Eglington Margaret Pearson
(d. 1823), Nos. 62 and 63 Cheyne Walk are the two houses next to the Old Church referred
to below.

Reproduced by permission of Chelsea Public Library

CHEYNE WALK HOUSES BY THE OLD CHURCH

Creat tribute is due to the Regional Hospital Board and
the other Hospital Authorities for improving the dilapidated
appearance of the two bombed houses, Nos. 62 and 63
Cheyne Walk, to the east of the old church. These two
houses became part of the Cheyne Hospital for Children in
1908, which, in turn, was taken over with other hospitals
by the Ministry of Health. The view was expressed in the
Annual Report, 1952, that with the old church rising from
its bombed ruins, it would be desirable that something
should be done about the neighbouring buildings. The
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two houses were built in the late seventeenth century, but
had since undergone many architectural changes and finally
had sustained bomb damage. Towards the end of 1952,
the Hospital architect advised that both houses should be
pulled down, since No. 63 was already largely demolished
and, it would be a very expensive and uneconomical under-
taking to repair No. 62. The Society then consulted the
Society for the Protection of Ancient Buildings, and
together they decided to call in Mr. John MacGregor,
F.S.A., F.RI.B.A., to inspect the premises. His report,
for which the Societies are much indebted, showed that the
roof and walls of No. 62 were sound, and that there was no
reason why demolition need take place. As an immediate
measure the building was made weatherproof, and steps
were taken to see that it was repainted and the blank party
wall with No. 63 was properly rendered. Thus the original
melancholy proposals gave way to meeting the Society's
wishes in full with the utmost good will on all sides. The
houses as they appeared in 1817 are illustrated opposite.

PROTECTION OF THE GARDEN STRIP IN
UPPER CHEYNE ROW,

The Society, at the instance of Dr. de Beer and others,
made representations to the Borough Council about guard-
posts for the recently constructed garden strip by the Holy
Redeemer Church in Upper Cheyne Row. It was explained
that the Society was concerned to see that this garden, now
that it has been laid out, was not spoiled. It will be
remembered that Dr. de Beer gave the Mountain Ash
Pyrus Aucuparia, now planted in the garden, the remainder
of the trees, (of which the Japanese Witch-Hazel Hamamelis
Japonica, has died), coming from the Borough Council.
Hitherto the garden had been protected by low concrete
guard-posts which had been broken, presumably by motor
cars. The Society felt that, if this garden was to remain
a garden at all, it would have to be permanently protected
against parking cars by guard-posts. [t was not considered
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that the temporary concrete guard-posts were suitable either
in strength or appearance. It was suggested that the old
“‘cannon’’ guard-post at the corner of Glebe Place and
Upper Cheyne Row was both substantial and suitable to
the character of the locality. The Borough Council later
installed guard-posts of the kind suggested along the front-
age of this garden.

CHRIST CHURCH ORGAN RESTORATION FUND

The Council of the Society have considered the plight
of the 1779 George England Organ removed to Christ
Church, Chelsea, from St. Michael's, Queenhithe, in 1876,
and think it important it should be preserved. They support
the appeal for £5,000 to restore the Christ Church Organ,
including modernising the action. Cheques should be made
payable to the Christ Church (Chelsea) Organ Fund and

addressed to :—

The Treasurer, The Hon Sir Albert Napier, K.C.B.,Q.C.,
16, Cheyne Gardens,
Chelsea, S.W.3.

An article by Sir Albert Napier appears on pages 4|
and 42.

BI-CENTENARY OF SIR HANS SLOANE—
MEMORIAL PLAQUE

It will be recalled from the Annual Report, 1952 page
12, that the Society had asked the L.ondon County Council
if they would consider placing a plaque on the King's Road
front of the Old Burial Ground to commemorate the bi-
centenary of Sir Hans Sloane on 11th January, 1953,

The London County Council are to be congratulated on at
once accepting the suggestion. As a result a plague has
been placed on the brick pier at the south east corner of
the Old Burial Ground. The inscription is as follows :—
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The ground to the West of this building was
given to the Parish of Chelsea in 1733 by Sir Hans
Sloane, President of the Royal Society. Born
1660, died 1753.

UNVEILING OF MEMORIAL PLAQUE TO
SIR HANS SLOANE

On 8th October, the Chelsea Society in co-operation with
the Welfare Committee of the London County Council
arranged an open air meeting, in the Old Burial Ground in
the King's Road, to commemorate the Hans Sloane bi-
centenary and unveil the plaque.

The Society issued invitations to their members, members
of the Borough Council, prominent Chelsea residents, all
the old people of Kingsmead (the large L.C.C. home adjoin-
ing the old burial ground), the Trustees of the British
Museum and other distinguished Museum representatives.
Members of the Society welcomed the guests among whom
were Professor and Mrs. A. V. Hill, the former a Trustee
of the British Museum and a Fellow of the Royal Society
who had kindly undertaken to unveil the plaque, and the
latter a notable worker for the welfare of the elderly; the
Marquess of Cambridge, Sovereign's Trustee of the British
Museum; Mrs. Iris Bonham, Chairman of the L.C.C.
Welfare Committee; and Mrs. Noble, wife of the Member
of Parliament for Chelsea. Among the members of the
Society were Earl Cadogan, the President, who is also a
descendant of Sir Hans Sloane and a Trustee of the British
Museum, and Dr. de Beer, the Director of the British
Museum, South Kensington, and author of Sir Hans Sloane
and the British Museum, reviewed below.

Speaking from a platform at the east side of the Old
Burial Ground, well away from the noise of traffic, Captain
Townsend, Deputy Mayor of Chelsea, first explained the
origin of the plague. Your Chairman then welcomed the
company, and Professor Hill gave an address, an account
of which occurs at page 43. The company then processed
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to the plague, and Professor Hill pulled the cord which un-
veiled it. Afterwards Professor and Mrs. Hill, some
members of the Society, and distinguished guests were
entertained to tea by the Matron at Kingsmead, which they
afterwards inspected. No account would be complete with-
out a word of praise to Mr. Waspe, the Warden of Kings-
mead and his staff for their unstinted efforts to ensure that
this commemoration was suitably acclaimed by the public.
[t was a happy thought to include all the old people from
Kingsmead, for in giving the land for a burial ground Sir
Hans Sloane, with due regard for the needs of the living
as well as the dead, had also included the land on which
Kingsmead now stands. The visitors and the old people
chatted to one another, and together paid tribute to the
Chelsea benefactor who died 200 years ago. The occasion
will be remembered for the friendly gathering as well as
for the p]aque.

SIR HANS SLOANE'S BIOGRAPHY

Dr. de Beer's life of Sir Hans Sloane fortunately far
exceeds in scope the limitations of its title Sir Hans Sloane
and the British Museum. It is, as one would expect, a
scholarly work and gives a complete picture of the diverse
interests of this great Chelsea figure of the eighteenth
century. It shows Sloane the botanist, the scientist, the
traveller and the collector; Sloane the Chelsea landlord
and humanitarian, championing the grievances of neigh-
bours and donating property for public purposes; Sloane
the physician. Dr. de Beer illustrates this biography with
fascinating stories from contemporary correspondence and
other original sources. Indeed, Dr. de Beer deserves the
special thanks of the Society for his scrupulous habit of
giving properly referenced documentary proofs of his state-
ments, which will prove indispensable to future Chelsea
historians. For its Notes and Appendices alone this bio-
graphy would prove valuable; for the rest, it is an extremely
readable work of particular interest to Chelsea people.
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DEMOLITION OF MARKHAM SQUARE
CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH

The destruction of Markham Square Congregational
Church removes one more notable feature from the Chelsea
landscape. In the past this religious centre held a great
place in the Chelsea community, and the tall spire of this
Church emphasised to the neighbourhood its importance

=== =5 S = ——— s
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CHELSEA NEW CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH, MARKHAM-SQUARE.

and its meaning. The Foundation Stone of the Church
was laid on 5th October, 1858, and the Church was opened
in 1860, the first pastor being a Rev. Clifford Hooper. The
Building was designed by John Tarring of Bucklersbury and
built by Myers of Lambeth. (See illustration above). It was
in the Gothic style, and cruciform in plan, the transepts
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extending some five feet beyond the nave. There was
accommodation in the main church for a congregation of
1,150, and a gallery for the choir and organ. The overall
height of the spire was 138 feet. The basement below
ground level was intended for Sunday school rooms and
general church purposes. Recently the proprietors offered
it for sale. After several attempts to attract purchasers
who would use the building for some commercial or
scholastic purpose, it was finally disposed of as a building
site. It is always sad to see a landmark which has worked
its way into the affections of the community disappear. [t
seems a pity that at least the spire could not have been
preserved.

PLANS FOR NEW HOUSES IN MARKHAM SQUARE

The new proprietors, having demolished the Markham
Square Congregational Church, proposed to build a row of
six houses on the site. If development had to take place
at all (and it is assumed it did) rebuilding with a row of
houses would appear to be the most suitable use to which
the site could be put. Nevertheless the Society took
exception to the first detailed plans and elevations for such
houses. This site is one of the most desirable in Chelsea
since, though centrally situated, it is quiet with a south-
easterly outlook over the Square. The Square itself con-
sists of small manageable houses which are much in demand
at the present time. The Church site has the additional
advantage that underground accommodation for cars is
possible with access from the street behind. The Square
garden, though long and narrow, is attractive and well kept,
and any buildings on the Church site must close the vista
and consequently be of architectural importance. The
houses, as first planned, were of two storeys, and it was the
view of the Society that the proportions appeared mean and
constricted and were unsuitable for the locality. They
also took exception to the external elevation. Too much
attention appeared to have been paid to conformity with
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the rest of the Markham Square houses. It was felt that
these were desirable for their size, convenience, location,
quietness and the Square garden, but to a less extent for
their appearance. Moreover, the Church site was
sufficiently separated from the buildings on either side to
be suitable for a design in contemporary idiom. The sky-
line could well have been as high as the other houses in the
Square. These considerations were referred to the Town
Planning Authority and, at a later stage, more satisfactory
plans were submitted with houses of three instead of two
storeys, and more commodious internal planning.

SLOANE SQUARE FOUNTAIN
On 26th October, 1953, Sir Gerald Kelly, P.R.A., in-

augurated the fountain in Sloane Square which had been
designed by Mr. Gilbert Ledward, R.A. Sir Edward
Maufe, R.A. designed the moulding of the retaining wall of
the pool. Members of the Society attended by invitation of
the Mayor, Aldermen and Councillors of Chelsea together
with a representative gathering from the Royal Academy,
The Chelsea Arts Club and many distinguished Chelsea
people. Unfortunately, Sir Gerald's opening address could
not be heard above the noise of the traffic, because the
loudspeaker broke down. On the following day The Times
paid tribute to the charm of fountains and this one in
particular in a fourth leader entitled Water Bewitched.
Among the impressions gained from the comments of those
present was a feeling that the scale and colour of the
fountain was well suited to its setting among the trees in
Sloane Square at the axis of the approach roads. The white
film of water falling over the lip of the vase gave a much
needed sense of movement to the otherwise lifeless expanse
of pavement. Sir Gerald expressed appreciation of the
way in which the sculptor had overcome the difficulties of
designing a figure to be seen from all sides. Lastly all con-
cerned are to be congratulated on having, by laying out the
square with pavement and by choosing a fountain,
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FOUNTAIN IN SLOANE SQUARE
Sir Gerald Kelly sident of the Royal Academy, speaking at the
inauguration ceremony (See page 27)

Reproduced by coeurtesy of Sport and General Press Agency Lid.
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and in particular this fountain, as the central feature, re-
tained its essential difference from other squares in
London, namely its continental character. An account of
how this came about was given in the Annual Report 1952
on pages 13 and 15. An Architect’s appreciation of the
Fountain in Sloane Square by Mr. Howard V. Lobb, C.B.E.,
F.R.I.B.A. occurs on page 44 and an illustration on page 28.

VANDALISM IN SLOANE SQUARE

Some members have expressed concern that the original
green patina of the bronze figure and base of the Sloane
Square fountain turned brown a day or two after the
inauguration ceremony had taken place. It appeared that
on the night of 5th November, 1953 some person or persons
unknown, possibly misguided CGuy Fawkes celebrants,
threw some chemical into the pool. Somehow or other,
either by being thrown there, or by percolating through the
pump, which circulates the water over and over again, some
of the chemical found its way on to the bronze, removed
the green patina, which had been artificially prepared at
the foundry, and caused the present unpleasant disccloura-
tion. FExperts have no experience of the effect of this
chemical on bronze statutary and the best course would
seem to be to wait and see what effect the atmosphere will
have in course of time. It is possible that the green patina
may return of its own accord; more likely, however, the
London atmosphere will turn it black. Few would support
leaving the statue in its present brown state or in a state
blackened by London atmosphere. There are, however,
strong advocates for polishing the statue, as an alternat've
to restoring the green patina, until it becomes a rich, shiny
brown like the lovely Japanese bronzes. Periodical polish-
ing would, of course, add to the cost of maintenance. Un
the other hand, the green patina could be restored at no
great cost and no maintenance. An experienced expert
could probably do the work in two days. Members of the
Society are invited to express views on how they think the
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bronze surface of the fountain should be treated in order
to give some guidance in the event of the Society making
representations to the Borough Council on the subject.
There would seem to be a regretable failure by members
of the public who should know better to distinguish
between, on the one hand, marking festive occasions by
harmless demonstrations and, on the other, “‘celebrating”
by wanton acts of vandalism. Too often acts of vandalism
are tolerated, if not “‘excused” on the grounds that they
are all part of the Guy Fawkes or Boat Race tradition. It
is most important to arouse public resentment against the
damaging of public monuments by way of celebrating
festive occasions.

FOUNDATION OF THE KENSINGTON SOCIETY

The Chelsea Society was consulted by the promoters of
the new Kensington Society about the organisation and
running of a local Amenity Society. The Kensington Society
held its inaugural meeting on 13th October, 1953. Before
the meeting took place, the good wishes of the Society
for the success of their venture were conveyed to the
Kensington Society.

MEMBERS’ ACTIVITIES

The Society was represented by Captain Dean, as guest
speaker, at a luncheon of the Rotary Club of Camberwell
on |lth February, and by your Chairman at the Annual
General Meeting of the Council for Visual Education on

[3th April, 1953.

NEW MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL OF THE SOCIETY
Mr. A. C. Richmond, C.B.E. and Captain E. .. Warre

have accepted invitations to join the Council of the Society.
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HONOURS AND APPOINTMENTS

Among members of the Society to receive Honours and
Appointments, Mary, Duchess of Devonshire, C.B.E., has
been appointed Mistress of the Robes; Sir Arthur Salter,
G.B.E., K.C.B., has been raised to the peerage as The
Lord Salter; Sir Norman Brook, G.C.B., has been sworn of
the Privy Council; Miss, now Dame Catherine Fulford,
[..C.C., has been honoured with the D.B.E., Mr. John
Hayward has been awarded the C.B.E., and Mrs. Ernest
Gillick the O.B.E.

OBITUARY

The Society will have heard with deep regret of the
death of Lord Aberconway, Bt., C.B.E., L.LD., J.P., Hon.
A.R.I.B.A., President of the Royal Horticultural Society.
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Loan Exhibition
of
Tournai and Chelsea Porcelain
June, 1953

by HESTER MARSDEN-SMEDLEY

The Belgian Institute is housed at 6 Belgrave Square in
premises built for days of spacious entertaining. The two
first floor rooms, with their wide windows and high ceilings,
made a fine setting for the Exhibition of Tournai and
Chelsea Porcelain. Son Altesse Royale le Prince de Liége,
attended by Their Excellencies The Belgian Ambassador
and the Marquise du Parc de Locmaria, Monsieur Janssens,
Belgian Minister of Finance, Monsieur Jean Nieuwenhuys,
Counsellor at the Belgian Embassy and Chairman of the
Exhibition Committee, and many representative Belgians,
visited the vernissage on June 3rd, 1953. There were also
present : Monseigneur Cento (representing the Apostolic See
at the Coronation), The Mayor and Mayoress of West-
minster, The Deputy Mayor and Mayoress of Chelsea, the
Marquess of Reading (Under Secretary of State for Foreign
Affairs), Commander Allan Noble, M.P., and Mrs. Noble,
members of the Arts Council, the British Council, the
English Ceramic Circle, the Council of the Chelsea Society,
lenders of exhibits and other distinguished persons.

The first room contained the seventy-six Tournai
exhibits. All but four of these had crossed the Channel
from Belgium. Two of those already in Fngland came from
the collection of Major W. H. Tapp, M.C., to whom tribute
must be paid as one of the first enthusiasts to establish the
links between the artists of the Tournai and Chelsea Porce-
lain Factories in the 18th Century, and whose researches
among the archives of the town of Tournai are so important,
as they were made before the war during which the
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town suffered two bombardments and many records and
much porcelain were destroyed.

The Tournai Factory began in 1751, six years later than
the Chelsea Factory, but continued right into the 19th
Century. Many artists and sculptors worked at both.

In this country Tournai is largely known for charming
simple blue patterns. These, in a surprising variety, could
be seen on the table ware exhibited (Musée de Mariemont).
These blue patterns continued till the Factory closed, and
can still be seen to-day, copied on modern mass produced
Belgian ware.

Changes in fashion and ideas could be traced through
the exhibits. Early Oriental influence was shown on two
plates—one imitating the Chinese pattern a la feuille de
Genipi (H. Delattre collection) and another of flowered
panels and pink poppies of Chien Lung design (Madame
du Bois de Roest collection) may have been made at
Tournai to replace pieces in original Oriental sets. Another
in fine camaicu vert would have been inspired by con-
temporary chinoiserie style from engravings by Pillemont
(H. Delattre collection).

Shape was very important in Tournai plates. The early
deep gadroons change gradually to delicate gentle mould-
ing and then disappear altogether. One PBritish owned
exhibit was a particularly fine example of early moulding—
large gadroons separated with coloured flower bouquets
on a puce ground with much gilding (S. Goldblatt
collection). The gradual conquest of the art of gilding
reached perhaps its finest example in the magnificent large
plate with gold thread border, its four reserves and centre
panel each containing realistic pictures of horsemen in
battle. The ground was of deepest blue, the panels and
reserves framed in intricate gold chased branches and
trellis work (Baron R. Gendebien collection).

Tournai factory marks puzzle many, and indeed mark-
ing was arbitrary. An early mark was crossed swords in
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blue. The tower mark in gold or colour, or crossed swords
in gold, appeared between 1756 and 1762, and can be
found right up till 1780 when they disappeared. Statuettes
and groups were never marked.

The letters I.D. and two little dots on the back of a plate
(Musée de Mariemont) were the signature of Joseph
Duvivier, one of the three artists of that surname, all of
Tournai origin and all working at some time in England,
notably at Chelsea and Worcester.

Many who visited the Exhibition carried away a bright
memory of five plates in caraieu rose, possibly by
Duvivier, arranged to catch the light—and especially the
afternoon sun—which picked out the delicate moulding,
brilliant gilding and exquisite designs of river scenes, rocks,
1uins and figures (Musée de Mariemont).

Later classical cameos and Trompe ['oeil effects of wood,
marble and Sea]ing wax reflected contemporary fashion. As
a contrast the sudden simplification of thought following
the influence of Jean Jacques Rousseau could be seen in a
wild buttercup, flung as it were, upon a plate (Madame
M. Rueff collection).

Joseph Mayer was a great Tournai artist. His painted
plagque with which he earned promotion from ‘éléve’ to
‘maitre’ was admired by all who saw it. Oddly enough it
was found in England many years ago fixed into a piece of
furniture. This plaque, in brilliant colours and superb
drawing, showed a busy seaport with sailing ships and
graceful buildings in the background (Maedame du Bois de
Roest collection). Mayer was also the painter of a famous
service ordered—so the story goes—by Philippe of Orléans
in 1787, to show that Tournai equalled Sévres. It was called
the Service aux Oiseaux de Buffon, and the birds were
copied from illustrations in Buffon's Natural History, pub-
lished about that time. An immense bowl (Madame L.
Solvay collection) and interestingly shaped teacaddy
(Musées Royaux d Art et d’Histoire, Brussels) were ex-
hibited from this Service.



The accurate ornithology of the Buffon birds was interest-
ing to look at after the much earlier oiseaux imaginaires—
one of the favourite lighthearted designs of both Chelsea
and Tournai. A Tournai cup showed such a bird upon
the wing (Major W. H. Tapp collection). A diminutive
oiseaux imaginaire topped a handful of fruit upon a deep
plate (Musée de Mariemont). The exotic birds of Chelsea
stalked in brilliant plumage across a green edged dish (Sir
Alexander Cadogan collection). See also Frontispiece.

Cut fruit was a popular theme on Tournai ware. A gilt
and blue jug had a lovely cut peach among coloured
flowers and foliage (Madame L. Solvay collection),
and a cut pear lay among other fruit on a red
bordered plate (Musée de Mariemont), while in Chelsea
paste two dessert plates patterned, with other fruits, showed
on one a brightly coloured cut lemon, on the other a halved
apple (Sir Alexander Cadogan collection). These were of
red anchor period (one alone was marked). A charming
little gold anchor cup and saucer had a delicate decoration
of several cut fruits (f. J. Tufnell collection).

Les Fables de la Fontaine and the original Aesop’s fables
inspired ideas for design on Tournai and Chelsea porcelain.
A Tournai set of teapot (Musées Royaux d’ Art et d’Histoire,
Brussels), milk jug (Madame du Bois de Roest collection)
and cup and saucer (Major W. H. Tapp collection) grouped
together made a charming exhibit, with various fables upon
them. The teapot had an unusual picture of Aesop himself
talking to all the creatures of his stories. The drawing and
accurate featuring of the well-known fables could be com-
pared with a Leopard and Fox on a Chelsea vase (Mr. and
Mrs. Eric Morgan collection) and with the magnificent dish
(17 inches in diameter) from the so-called Warren Hastings

service (F. V. C. de Costa Andrade collection).

The pretty conceit of insects and butterflies appeared on
many Tournai and Chelsea pieces. Cupids on the Tournai
barrel-shaped mustard pot (Baron R. Gendebein collection)
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COLOURED TOURNAI STATUETTE

A Boy leaning against two tree trunks carrying a magic lantern on
his back and playing a hurdy gurdy. Shown at the Loan Exhibition
of Tournai and Chelsea Forcelain, 1953. (See page 37)

Reproduced by courtesy of . Madame du Bois de Roest
Les Etablissements Casterman de Tournat collection
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closely resembled those on the Chelsea dish (/. J. Tufnell
collection) and bowl (Major W. H. Tapp collection) both

in red monochrome, and were probably by the same hand.

The most remarkable pieces for comparison and prob-
ably the most interesting in the whole Exhibition, were the
Descente de Croix of Tournai (WMadame du Bois de Roest
collection) and the Pieta of Chelsea (/. [. Tufnell collection).
The Tournai group, mounted upon a metal plinth, was
in biscuit with a tall cross at the foot of which the Virgin
receives the body of the dead Christ while an angel kneels
beside. The Chelsea group was coloured, on a flower
patterned ground and without the Cross. The modelling
of both groups, with the distinctive turn of the Virgin's
head and outstretched arm, was almost identical. They
would both have been inspired by a contemporary picture,
but they are too alike in feeling and detail to be anything
but by the same hand. Experts disagree about this. In
Belgium the Descente de Croix is often attributed to
Nicholas Lecreux who never came to Chelsea. But the
sculptor Gauron worked at Chelsea and his touch is so like
that shown in these groups that both are very likely his
work. But some consider Joseph Willems who also worked
at Tournai and Chelsea might have made the model.

Other charming Tournai groups and statuettes probably
showed the work of Gauron and Willems. An outstanding
piece was the boy figure with magic lantern and hurdy
gurdy (Madame du Bois de Roest collection), which
formed the catalogue cover illustration, (reproduced
on page 36), and which, with two fine Hans Sloane
Chelsea plates (1. J. Tufnell collection), was shown on the
Television programme. Three little Cupids (Madame du
Bois de Roest collection) had much in common with the
“Cupid for dessert’” of Chelsea (Dr. Severne Mackenna
collection). These charming models were used as table
decorations and were generally copied from Meissen work.

Glazed white and biscuit groups and figures were often
made at Tournai and several were exhibited, notably the
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Amours Pécheurs—two Cupids with a basket of fish among
rocks and shells—(Musées Royaux d’Art et d Histoire,
Brussels) and Le Saut de Mouton—children at a spirited
game of leapfrog (Baron R. Gendebien collection). A glazed
white bust of Monseigneur d'Qultremont, Prince Bishop of
Liége, (Musée de Mariemont) most probably modelled by
Cauron aroused particular interest, and two people who
owned similar pieces were able for the first time to
identify them.

Little Tournai boxes, decorated inside and out and often
bound in gold and silver gilt (Madame du Bois de Roest
and Madame L. Solvay collections), showed the apprecia-
tion of the age for miniature objects. There were also
exquisite small Chelsea exhibits, including peapods, flower
posy, asparagus needle box, rose shaped toilet box and
silver mounted bonbonniére in the shape of a man’s head

(all J. . Tufnell collection).

In the Chelsea room were fifty-one exhibits. Emphasis,
of course, was on those already mentioned and others
which could profitably be studied in comparison with those
of Tournai. But certain typical pieces were shown to
illustrate Chelsea technique. An exquisite goat and bee
jug and white crayfish salt (Mr. and Mrs. Eric Morgan
collection) and little painted Hawk Owl (Miss Dorothy
Palmer collection) came from the early days of triangle
and raised anchor. There were several animal figures—
realistic as the large Pugdog and Pup, ruminating Cow,
delicately coloured Sheep, or imaginative as the fable group
of Leopard and Fox forming a candlestick (cll S. Goldblatt
collection), and the greatly admired Peahen in brilliant
colours marked with a raised red anchor (4. G. Morris
collection).

Clever animal painting was seen on the pair of large
dishes (/. J. Tufnell collection) and in most interesting
grouping and colouring on the magnificent two-handled
covered bowl (Mr. and Mrs. Eric Morgan collection). There
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was a plate from the Mecklenburg Service (General Sir
Beauvoir de Lisle collection), two from the famous claret
service (Lord Kinnaird collection) and three grosbleu
custard cups with coloured figures (I. O. Chance collection)
and a very interesting vivid green teapot (Major W. H.
Tapp collection) almost matched a beaker shaped cup and
saucer in colour and design (Lady Heilbron collection).

Among Chelsea figures of outstanding interest were the
little blue clad boy playing a violin (Chelsea Borough
Council), a pigtailed gardener with basket and fywhisk
(S. Goldblatt collection) and two rare slim figures holding
bowls (red anchor marked) their exquisite modelling akin
to that of the Pietda (Mr. and Mrs. Eric Morgan collection).
See illustration on page 40.

Two more Chelsea figures (gold anchor marked) came
from a set ‘Apollo and the nine Muses’, standing |6 inches
high and in brilliant colour. Many people considered them
to be by the hand of a Tournai sculptor, most probably
Willems—(/. F. Tomas collection).

Six tall vases showed a different type of work to that
usually associated with Chelsea. Three had masks in relief
and ornate paintings upon them—one a fortune telling group
after Watteau. Two were square shaped, with Oriental
design and the last, 12 inches high, had a claret ground with
Cupids after Boucher. The two last were gold anchor
marked (all R. Palumbo collection).

It is interesting—and satisfactory for the organisers—to
hear from many sides that not only was real pleasure given
by the Exhibition but an impetus to further study. The
name of Chelsea was fairly well-known in Belgium, but the
insular English were mainly ignorant about Tournai. Since
June 1953 many people have looked at the collections of
Tournai porcelain in this country. One museum at least in
Belgium reports that an unusually large number of visitors
have called to see their collections, and many went to the
war-scarred town of Tournai itself.
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Pair oF CHELSEA FIGURES, drapery painted in colours. Each holding a bowl
decorated with sprays of flowers. Height 74 inches. Red anchor mark. Shown at
the Loan Exhibition of Tournai and Chelsea Porcelain, 1953. (See page 39)

Reproduced by courtesy of Mr. and Mrs. Evic Morgan
the Belgian Institute, London 40 collection



CHRIST CHURCH ORGAN

By SirR ALBERT NAPIER, K.C.B., Q.C.

One of the lesser known historic monuments of Chelsea
is a church organ built by George England in 1779.

For more than a century competition for the favour of
cultured and critical patrons had been stimulating the
efforts and ingenuity of a succession of organ-builders who
had to be skilled artists in the production of musical sounds
if they were to be successful. From the reign of Charles I,
when Father Smith and Renatus Harris were militant rivals,
the organs built by them and their successors in the 18th
and early 19th centuries have never ceased to be admired.
There were many developments in the 19th century, and
the Victorians who built new organs or re-built old ones
increased the volume and variety of the tones produced. It
is said by some modern critics that in doing so the
Victorians were too ready to sacrifice guality to quantity,
and the earlier organs seem to be appreciated more than
ever, perhaps for their superior definition and their special
suitability for the works of pre-Victorian composers.

George England flourished between 1740 and 1788. He
learnt his trade under Richard Bridge whose daughter he
married. Amongst other builders of his century George
England was specially noted for the silvery and sparkling
character of his ‘chorus’, due largely to the care and skill
with which he balanced and harmonised the several pipes
of his ‘mixtures’.

After his death his business was carried on by Ceorge
Pike England, his nephew (or, as most books say, his son),
who, besides building many good organs himself, kept
careful notes of his predecessors’ methods and results as
well as his own.

Soon after 1800, Henry Leffler, who had access to these
notes, wrote in manuscript a discriminating study of many
organs of his day. His manuscript is no longer extant, but
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it was used by Dr. Pearce in his book on London City
Churches, written about 1907. He quotes Leffler as saying
that the instrument about which | am writing was ‘a very
good organ all through’, and Leffler’s comments on other
organs were by no means always so favourable.

The organ, when built, had three manuals, Great (10
stops), Swell (6 stops), and Choir (5 stops). These 2| speak-
ing stops, including four mixtures, contained [,342 pipes
altogether. There was no Pedal organ, pedals being rare
in this country at that time.

A Pedal organ by Gray was added in 1837 while J. T.
Cooper was organist. Among the later organists was Sir
Joseph Barnby before he became Precentor of Eton.

In 1876 the Wren church for which the organ was built
(St. Michael's, Queenhithe) was declared redundant and
demolished, and the organ was transferred to Christ Church,
Chelsea, an early Victorian church near the junction of

Flood Street and Royal Hospital Road.
In 1890 the organ was re-built by Abbott and Smith of

Leeds. It was considerably enlarged and re-arranged and
the old tracker action was replaced by a tubular-pneumatic
action, then a fairly recent invention.

Of the original stops (and pipes) more than half, i.e. 15
stops (about 800 pipes) survive. The old sound boards are
still there, and so is the case. As far as | can discover, there
exists no other organ built by George England (senior)
which contains so much of the original material.

On a re-building, the stops could be re-arranged at no
great expense so that the organ would become, in all
essentials, a real George Edwardian organ. This however
would not be worth doing unless a new action were put in
at the same time. The 1890 action is worn out. The response
is unreliable and slow, and ciphering is not infrequent. The
organ is still worth hearing and its further deterioration may
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be gradual, but sooner or later a new action 1s essential if
the organ is to remain capable of preservation. The longer
this is postponed, the more expensive it will be; for wages
and therefore prices are always rising. To instal a modern
(electric) action would now cost about £3,000—a large sum
for a parish to raise in a short time—and nothing would be
saved by reverting to an older type of action.

Members of the Society may like to know that this historic
instrument is still in use, and can be visited on any day—
like a patient on the danger list.

An appeal by the Council of the Society for support in
raising £5,000 is referred to in the Chairman’s Report on
page 22.

HANS SLOANE BICENTENARY
Address by Professor A. V. Hill, CH., OB.E. F.R.S,

at the unveiling of a Memorial Plague to Sir Hans Sloane,
in the Old Burial Ground, King’s Road, Chelsea, on the
8th October, 1953.

Professor Hill recalled that it was 274 years since Sir Hans
Sloane had come to London from Killyleagh in Northern
[reland to study medicine, botany and chemistry, and 200
years ago since he had died, in his 93rd year, at Chelsea.
Five months later the large collection of material and
books which he had acquired was constituted by Act of
Parliament the nucleus of what is now the British Museum.
It was as a trustee of that foundation that the speaker was
to have the honour of unveiling a plaque provided by the
London County Council, on the initiative of the Chelsea
Society, to record the fact that the ground on which his
hears were standing was given by Sloane in 1733 to the
parish of Chelsea.

Sloane, so Professor Hill observed, was a shrewd man of
affairs, besides being a great physician. He was also an
ardent collector and a pioneer of scientific botany; and the
seed which he planted has grown into the twin Museums of
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Bloomsbury and Kensington. Here in Chelsea he is re-
membered for his connection with the Physic Garden of
the Society of Apothecaries, where he studied in his early
days in London. Many years later, after he had become
lord of the manor, he conveyed this Garden to the Apothe-
caries in perpetuity for a small rent. In recognition of this
benefaction, the Society, with a nice sense of gratitude,
erected his statue there twenty years before his death.
Yet another gift was that of the land upon which they were
then standing, to provide an additional burial ground and
the site for a workhcuse, now a home for elderly people.
Sloane, who had devoted much time and care to his
property in Chelsea, and to the village in which it lay,
came to live there in 1742; and both he and his wife are

buried in the churchyard of the Old Church.

Sloane’s greatest memorials are the two famous Museums
built round his collections, but it is fitting that he should
also be commemorated in Chelsea. He should be re-
membered as an understanding, kindly, friendly person,
who wanted to help his fellow citizens. His name is re-
called in Sloane Street and Hans Place, and his descendants
still live in the Borough. As the founder of the British
Museum he was a citizen of the world; as the donor of the
land upon which they were standing, as the owner of the
manor house, and as the benefactor of the Physic Garden,
he was a citizen of Chelsea.

AN ARCHITECT'S APPRECIATION OF THE
FOUNTAIN IN SLOANE SQUARE

By Howarp V. LoBB, C.B.E., F.R.1.B.A.

The unique character of Sloane Square, paved through-
out and surrounded by plane trees which have still many
years' growth before reaching maturity, has been greatly
enhanced by the fountain completed to the designs of
Gilbert Ledward, R.A., and handed over to the Borough
of Chelsea in November 1953,
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Of all the London squares probably Sloane Square is the
most continental in character and the addition of this
fountain has increased this flavour. Its position in relation
to the Upper and Lower Sloane Streets is ideal and the
figure and the surrounding hexagonal base are completely
functional in marking the roundabout. Chelsea is to be
heartily congratulated on this addition to its amenities
which will be particularly felt during the summer months
when the gentle ripple of water from the lip of the bronze
vase will be added to the noise of the London scene.

The cost of circulating this water is only a few pence a
day and the reflection in the basin of the figure and the
plane trees tipped with the flowing cloud shadows is a real
joy.

Mr. Gilbert Ledward, R.A., who was born in Chelsea,
has appropriately recorded the romance of Charles Il and
Nell Gwynne as a frieze around the vase supporting the
bronze figure.

[t is not clear to me whether the figure is intended to be
a representation of Nell Gwynne herself, but if this is in
any way authentic she can surely have had no difficulty in
selling cranges !

The fountain was presented to the Borough of Chelsea by
the Royal Academy of Arts through the Leighton Fund, a
Trust founded by two sisters of l.ord Leighton for the
purpose of placing pictures, statues and other works of
art in or near public buildings. In these days when our
buildings, streets and town planning are so utilitarian it is
refreshing to hear once again of this Trust as an example
which could be well followed by public or private bodies
with benefit to our townscapes.

| hope that other Metropolitan Boroughs will follow this
example.



The Annual General Meetin g

of the Chelsea Society was held in Crosby Hall
Cheyne Walk, Chelsea
on Tuesday, 24th March, 1953, at §.30 p.m.

Mr. Marsden-Smedley opened the proceedings before a
notable gathering of Chelsea people by welcoming both the
Members and their guests.

In moving the adoption of the Chairman’s Report, 1952
on pages |2 to 23 of the Annual Report 1952 the Chairman
first referred to the presence in the body of the meeting
of Mr. Gilbert Ledward, R.A., who had designed the
fountain in Sloane Square, and Mrs. Ernest Gillick, who had
been a member of the Society for many years and who
had recently designed the Queen’s Head on the coinage.

The Chairman then referred to a matter which had been
the subject of wide public interest, namely the proposal to
demolish Nos. 62 and 63, Cheyne Walk. The utmost
sympathy had been shown by the authorities concerned to
the efforts of the Chelsea Society, and, through them, other
interested bodies, to prove that No. 62 at least could and
should be preserved. He explained how the Society had
consulted the Society for the Protection of Ancient Build-
ings, and they had called in a well-known architect and
expert on saving old and valued buildings, Mr. John
MacGregor, F.S.A., F.R..LB.A.  Mr. Marsden-Smedley
said he thought that instead of jumping to unauthoritative
conclusions on whether the balance of interest lay in pulling
down houses or preserving them, it would be far better, as
a general rule, to follow the reasonable course of obtaining
proper expert reports on the condition of buildings. This
would at least provide a persuasive case to be put to the
owners. In the case in question, expert advice shewed that
the roof and back wall were in perfect condition. The
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floor boards on the upper floors had been removed, pre-
sumably for first aid repairs elsewhere during the war, but
that revealed thoroughly sound timbers underneath.
Although this particular building was sound and worthy
of preservation, it would be for the Hospital Authorities to
say how far it was possible for them to meet the views of
the Society, having regard to financial restrictions and plans
for the future use of the site. The Chairman said he would
very much like to commend the various authorities for con-
sidering the matter with reason and true appreciation.

Mr. Marsden-Smedley then referred to the proposal to
hold a Tournai Chelsea Exhibition in the summer, which he
hoped would be as successful as the Chelsea China Exhibi-
tion in 1951,

The Exhibition was to be the Belgian Institute's contri-
bution to the celebrations of coronation summer. The
comparison between the work of the Tournai and Chelsea
porcelain factories would be a great contribution to scholar-
ship. The links were many, and more might be discovered
through the Exhibition. The Society was contributing
something of what it had learned about Chelsea porcelain
through much research, past Exhibitions, contact with
collectors, and connections in Chelsea. Similar researches
were being undertaken in Belgium. The Exhibition could
not be held in Chelsea owing to the difficulty of obtaining
accommodation for so long a period as a whole month; but
the Belgian Institute had a magnificent suite of rooms at
No. 6 Belgrave Square, which had been put at the disposal
free of charge of an Anglo-Belgian Committee responsible
in close association with the Society for organisation. He
felt sure the Society would agree that the Belgian Author-
ittes concerned had earned the gratitude of everyone for
their generosity.

Mr. Marsden-Smedley then asked for the adoption of the
Chairman’s Report for 1952 and Mr. Adam seconded the

motion.
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Lord Cadogan moved that the re-appointment of the
Council be confirmed, with the exception of Lord Lloyd
who had resigned from the Society on leaving Chelsea.
This motion was seconded by Captain Warre, and duly
carried. The list of members of the Council, with the
abeove exception, therefore stands as printed in the Annual
Report.

The Hon. Treasurer was then called upen to present the
accounts of the Society for the year ended 3|st December,
1952. The accounts had been audited and circulated to
members in the Annual Report. In his summary of the
financial position the Treasurer stated that income was very
nearly £270 last year as against £277 in 1951. In 195]
expenditure amounted to £212 whilst last year it was £290.
In both years the chief item of expenditure was the Annual
Report. The income from subscriptions during the year
amounted to £170 and the Treasurer said that, in his view,
the Society could always do with a much larger member-
ship. A motion that the accounts be agreed was proposed
by Major Halton and seconded by Captain Edwards.

In reply to the Treasurer's plea for a larger membership
te assist the finances of the Society, the Chairman said that
it was always desirable to get new members but not merely
for financial reasons. He thought that too much money
made members lose interest in a Society, and for this
reason it was better to be too poor than too rich, but the
Seciety must have enough to keep going. The Report was
the chief item of expenditure, and the Society could always
produce a cheaper work at the sacrifice of quality, but this
it was not proposed to do. Alternatively, the subscriptions
could be increased, but Mr. Marsden-Smedley did not
think this was either necessary or desirable. He supperted
the motion moved by Major Halton and seconded by
Captain Edwards.

The Chairman then moved a vote of thanks to Mr.
Astell, the Hon. Auditor, which was carried unanimously.
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He called then upon Dr. G. de Beer to give his address cn
Sir Hans Sloane. Dr. de Beer very wittily expanded and
illustrated the story of this great eighteenth century figure,
who left his mark indelibly in so many spheres including the
Chelsea landscape. In his article Sir Hans Sloane and Chelsea
printed in the Annual Report 1952, pages 27 to 31, Dr. de
Beer had already outlined some outstanding features of Sir
Hans Sloane’s life in Chelsea, and to these he added many
anecdotes and guotations from cerrespondence. He also
drew extensively on the material collected for his work
Sir Hans Sloane and the British Museum, which he said was
shortly to be published. (Now published. A review occurs
at page 24).

The meeting then terminated.
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GENERAL FUND ACCOUNT

Statement of Income and Expenditure for the Year ended 31st December, 1953
d.

INCOME

To Balance brought forward
Ist January, 1953
., Members:—
Life Members
Annual Subscriptions
Donations e
Entrance Fees

., Sales of Annual Reports
. Interest on £300 of 3149
War Stock
,» Interest on  Deposit  in
P.O.S. Bank ... wi

E. Havton,

Hon. Treasurer.

10th January, 1954.

£

S.

oS

£

73

£373

8.

d.

10

EXPENDITURE £ s d. £ s od
By Annual General Meeting 30 0 0
» Annual Report 174 11 11
» Architect’s Plans 5 5 0
» Bank Charges .. 106
» Clerical Assistance 43 14 0
,» Photographs 300
» Postage 2118 1
,» Stationery 2110 5
»» Subscription to Council

of Civic Societies ... L1 o
,» Balance:—

Cash in hand 8 10

At Barclays Bank ... 44 8 §

P.O.S. Bank 27 11 3

el L BB

£373 19 8

Audited and found correct.
R.J. V. AstELL, A.C.A.,
Hon. Auditor.
I18th January, 1934.

Note.—The certificates for £500 3149 War Stock in the name of The Chelsea Society
are deposited with Messrs, Barclays Bank, Ltd., 348, King's Road, Chelsea, S.W.3.



REGINALD BLUNT MEMORIAL FUND ACCOUNT
Statement of Income and Expenditure for the Year ended 31st December, 1953

INCOME £ s d EXPENDITURE £ s d.
To Balance brought forward Ist January By Balances in P.O.S, Bank ... RO )
1953 = 3 7 5
, Interest for 1953 I 2 0
£45 9 35 £45 9 5
E. HavLton, Audited and found correct.
Hon. Treasurer. R. J. V. AsTELL, A.C.A,,
Hon. Auditor.
10th January, 1954, 18th January, 1954.

CHELSEA OLD CHURCH RESTORATION FUND ACCOUNT
Statement of Income and Expenditure for the Year ended 31st December, 1953

) INCOME £ s d EXPENDITURE £ sod.
= To Balance brought forward Ist January By Balance in P.0.S. Bank .o 123 2 1
1953 .o 120 201
. Interest for 1953 3 00
£195 2 | sk &
. Havrox, Audited and found correct.
Hon. Treasurer. R. J. V. AstrLL, A.C. 4.,
Hon. Auditor.
10th January, 1954, 18th January, 1954,

ANALYSIS OF POST OFFICE SAVINGS BANK ACCOUNT

As at 31st December, 1953
£ & dy
General Fund Account ... . 190 10 9
Reginald Blunt Memorial Fund Account 45 9 5
Chelsea Old Church Restoration Fund
Account s V2 Z |

£350° 2 3




List of Members

An asterisk denotes a life member.

of corrections or changes

*Miss K. Acranp, O.B.E.
FrepErICK ApaMm, Esq., C.M.G.
Mrs. W. Scort ApIE
Mrs. M. ALFORD
MRs. ALLEN

*MRs. RUPERT ALLHUSEN
R. A. Avtsox, Esq.

Miss ANNIE ANDERSON
Miss Mary ANDERSON

*Miss G. ANDREWS
PrEpExDARY W. G. ARROWSMITH

*Mgs. R. T. AssHETON

*R. J. V. AstELL, Esoq.

*Mgrs. R. J. V. AsTELL

*SANNYER ATKIN, Esq.

Miss M. G. BaLL

Mgrs. H. M. Banon

Miss JEan Barrie

Jonn HavrL Barrow, Esq.
G. A. Bearon, Esq.

Miss ETner BeEaumonT
“Miss Exip MoBeRLY BELL
Miss ELEANOR BEsT
“NokL Brakiston, Esog,
*P. Raymoxp Bobpkiv, Esq.
*Miss Murier. Bonp

F. A. Boor, Esq.
“Miss S. K. Boorn

Mrs, H. BorNER

Mgrs. Joun BoTTERELL
*Miss M. D. Boyp

Miss MauDE BRECKLES
*Tue Hon. VIRGINIA BRETT
*Miss VicToria BRIDGEMAN
Tre Rr. Hon. S1R NorMan Brook, G.C.B.
Lapy Brook

Miss AnTHONY BROWN
Mrs. Ceci. Brown

J- Francis Brown, Esq.
*T. McLeax Buckrey, Esq.
*Miss HiLpa BUCKMASTER
Litian, Lapy Buro
*G. F. A. Burcess, Eso.

*T'ne Eart Capocan, M.C
*Mrs. Huen CAMPBRELL

The Hon. Seccretary should be informed
i1 name, title or address,

Miss Mary Camrion, O.B.E.
Miss S. CareuTT

MRrs. F. ANSTRUTHER CARDEW
Mrs. D. Carson-RoBerTs

I. O. CHaxcE, Esq.

MRgs. I. O. CHaNCE

E. J. CHapMmax, Esg.

Miss A. M. CHATFIELD
*Miss M. B. A, CHURCHARD
Mrs. P, U, Crarx

R. D. CLaRkE. Esq.
*Craarces Cray, Eso., C.B., FS.A.
*Tne Hon. Mgs. C. T. Cray
*Miss Epirn Cray

Miss Juria CLEMENTS

W. A, CLEVERLEY, EsQ.

A. W, Cocksurn, Esq., Q.C.
Dexnis M, Conen, Esg.
*Mgrs. J. B. CoLE

Miss E. CoLEMAN

F. A. Lesuie CoLuis, Esg.

G. Corrmax, Eso.

Miss Etner CoLLun, M.B K.
*Miss Axna M, CoLtman
Miss M. K. Cook

Mrs, S, F. Cooksey

A. L. Cowran, Eso., M.C.
MRrs. A. L. Cowran
TrEncHARD Cox, Esq.

Mgs. TreEncrarp Cox

Mrs. STAFFORD CRAWLEY
Mgs. G. T. CREGAN

Tue ReEv. Eric Cross
Grorce Cross, Eso.

J. H. Crurr, Esq.

MRrs. J. H. Crurr

Mgrs. LercrsTER Curzon-Howk

Miss ANNE DarLpy

Tue Hoxn. Lapy DALRYMPLE-WHITE
*Miss ESTHER DaRLINGTON

Carramny C. G. T. DEan, MLB.E,
Mrs. C. G. T. DEan

1. G. DEasoxn, Esg.

Dz. G. R. pE Beer, FR.S.

Mgs. G. R. pE Beer

Mgrs. L. H. G. pE BuNsex

Mgs. W. pE Burer WHyTE
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R. G. pe FEREMBRE, Esq., F.R.5.A. *Tue Laby GREVILLE

Mgs. W. pe "Horitar, O.B.E. Mrs. H. B. R. GREY-EpWARDS
*Tue Lorp pe L'IsLE anp DupLey, V.C. *MRrs. GREY-TURNER

Mgrs. G. H. DENNEHY Mgs. W. S. A, GRIFFITH
*LroNarD B. L. DE Sasran, Esq. A. G. GRIMWADE, Esq.

Mary, Ductess or Devonsimirg, C.B.E.
Mrs. A. C. Dickins.

ArTHUR H. Dixon, Esq. Miss M. HaLEy

Mgs. E. M. Muir Drxon *Major E. D. Harton

Mprs. CuarLes G. Du CANE Maria, Lapy HamiLton

Miss MARGARET DUFFUS *Miss OLIVE HARGREAVES
Mrs. T. C. DucDALE E. J. Harman, Esq., LR.LB.A.
*L.my DunsTAN Kenxern H. Harris, Esg.

T. V. §. DURRANT, Esq. *Miss MILDRED HasTiNGs

*Joun Haywarp, Esq., C.B.E.
W. James Eastwoon, Esq. IEAI\); gﬁ:ﬁiﬂ{ Eso.
Guy Epmiston, Esq. *Mgrs. C. HeLy-HurcHINSON
R. Epmonns, Esq. Liipy EENDERSON
Capraiv Riciarp Epwarns, RN, J.P, L.C.C. oy O. Hesrioues, Esq.

MRgs. RiciiARD EDWARDS Miss M. G. HeNry

,,{”E Lapy ALETHEA ELtoT Miss Iris HERVEY-BATHURST
T. S. Eriot, Esq., O.M. Miss A. P. HEwIrT
Wirrep Ertiston, Eso. *Niss Orive Heywoob
Rutnven Evans, Esq. *Mrs. D. M. HiLt
MRrs. RUTHVEN Evans Mns. H.zLLl.ERs
Mgs. WiLLiam F. EVERETT Mrss: C. Hitiigis

Antony Hiprisiey Coxe, Esq.
Mnrs. R. HippisLEy CoxE

basy BaammArey, Fap. Oriver V. G. Hoarg, Esq.

*STUART FAIRE, Esq. -
Miss Erner FILDES *;E‘:S 8[‘IIE’E;_‘[(§2L?I;_[I;IDARE
1.0 Fomason, Heg, Mgs. D. E. Horranp-MarTin, O.B.E.

Mgs. O. M. FisHER
*Lapy ForsTER-COOPER
Miss May Founrain Miss M S El R
Sir Georrrey Fry, Bart.,, K.C.B., C.V.O. *1\11[85 6‘\11}1(;“““ ORNBY

Dame Catnerine Furrorp, D.B.E. *lC R)S‘ D RO\IV_IHSON
Miss MurieL FuLrorD P 2N OISO

Mgs. C. Hore MURRAY
*Miss Diana Hornsy

*Miss Janer A. Howison
Mrs. CuarLes HUnT

*SEnoR DoN ANTONIO GANDARILLAS Mgs. WiLLiam HUNTER

Eric Georce, Esq.
Mgs. Eric GEORGE

*Miss M. V. Gipson Miss MARGARET ISAAC
Mrs. Ernest Giirick, O.B.E.

*Mrs. Davip GLADSTONE

Mgs, H. GLeaDOW LaDY JACKSON

ApmiraL J. H. Goprrey, C.B. Mgrs. M. Jaco

WaLter H. Goprrey, Esq., C.BE., F.S.A,  Mrs. R E. Jess

F.R.IB.A.

Mgs. K. Gore

Mgs. Vaux GrRAHAM W. B. KExnerT, Esq.

L. M. Gray, Esq. Louis KENTNER, EsQ
*Ropin GrEEN, Esq. Mnrs. B. M. KEnvon

W. R. GreEN, Esq. *R. W. Grauam KEeRRr, Esg.
*Miss Jean GreiG *Miss A. M. Keyser
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*I'ne HoN. MARGARET KINNAIRD
GENERAL SiR Harry Knox, K.C.B., D.S.O

Miss Frances M. LancTon
Miss MaRY LANGTON

A. V. Lawes, Esq.

W. N. LawrieLp, Esq.
Miss MARGARET LEGGE
Jonx LeEnmann, Esq.

Miss MARGARET LEONARD
H. Murray LeEvEson, Esq.
BeEnn W. Levy, Esq.

MRgs. E. B. LEwis

N. M. H. Licurroot, Esq.
*Miss Rurn LocH, O.B.E.
Lapy Locock

Major Sipney Luck, O.B.E.
*Miss A. M. LuptoN
*Miss HENrIETTA LyaLn
*Miss MELLICENT LyaLrL, M.B.E.
Mgs. REGINALD LyGon

Mgrs. H. MacCoLL
Miss EraiNe MacDoxaLp
Mrs. Kerra MacKeNzie
James MacNair, Esq.
Miss DororHy MACNAMARA
Mrs. GEOrrFrEY MaDAN
S. A. MarpEen, Esq
Lt. Cor. C. L’ESTRANGE MALONE
Francis MagrsDEN, Esq.
BasiL MARSDEN-SMEDLEY, Esq., O.B.E.
Mrs, BasiL MARSDEN-SMEDLEY
CwmbR. Joun Marspen-SmepLey, RN, Rid.
Mnrs. Joun MARSDEN-SMEDLEY
Luke MARSDEN-SMEDLEY, Esq.
W. A. MarTtin, EsQ.
Mgs. W. A, MARTIN
*A. A, MarrtiNeau, Eso.
W. Marruews, Esq.
*GARETH MAUFE, EsqQ.
A. R. MaxwerLL-Hysror, Esq.
Sir MicHaiL McDonNeLL, K.B.E.
Miss Dororany McDoucaLL
Miss HeLex McKie
*Tue Hon, Mrs. PuiLip MELDON
Mrs. MeLvILL MILLER
Miss ANNE MOFFAT
Miss R. nE B. Moxk
Miss GErDA MoRGAN
*A. G. Morris, Esq.
*Mgs. A. G. Morris
*Mrs. JoceLys Morton, AR.ILB.A.
*Tue Lorp MoyNE
Mgs. K. H. Muxro

*Miss EmiLy MURRAY
MRrs. PaTtrick MURRAY :
*Miss EvrizapetH MURPHY-GRIMSHAW

*Tue How, S1k ALBERT Narier, K.C.B., Q.C,
Tue How. Lapy NAPIER
Miss M. GiLuiat NayLor
P. A. NecreTTI, Esq.
MRgs. J. MacMILLAN NEILD
Miss B. Amy NEVILLE
Dg. CuarLes VERE NicoLn
*CMDR, ArLraN NOBLE,
D.S.0, DS.C, RN, M.P.
Mgs. E. A. N6EL
MRrs. NORTHCROFT

Mrs. Amy OcHs

MRrs. V. OrmMoND

H. CLare A. O'Rorkg, Eso.
G. W. Osgorn, Esq.

GENERAL SIR BERNARD PAGET,
G.C.B, D.S.O, M.C.

Miss MarierTa Parris

*Miss DorotHYy PALMER

Tue PAuLToNs SQUARE RESIDENTS'

ASSOCIATION

Mrs K. D. Peck

Tue Hox. Mrs. Home PEEL

LawgreNce Pece, Esq.

Miss Maup PeLuam, O.B.E., ]J.P.

Cor. T. M. M. PENNEY
*MRs. STANLEY PETERS
*Sir GEOFFREY PETO, K.B.E.
*Tue Hon. Dorotny Pickrorp, O.B.E., J.P
Mgs. A. E. PINDER-WILSON

Miss AUDREY PLAYFAIR

Miss Livias PLAYFAIR

Miss GERTRUDE POHLMAN
*SIR SPENCER PorTaL, BART.

Miss Louise Hovr PorTER

*A. D. Powkgr, Esq

Miss IRENE RATHBONE
¥Miss HeaTHER RawsoN

R. F. REks, Esg., M.B.E.

Mrs. R. F. ReEs

Messrs. A. ] REFFoLp & PARTNERS. Ltn
H. M: Rennig, Esq.

J- M. Ricuarps, Esg.
*MRrs, NorMan RicHARDS

A. C. Ricumonn, Esq., C.B.E.

Mgs. D. M. RippeL
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GeorrFrEY Rirpon, Esq., L.C.C.
*Mrs. M. RoGERSON-FLOWER
Miss Patience Ropes

H. W. RoruscuiLp, Esq.
*Mgrs. E. C. RuGGLES-BRISE
Miss AveriL RusseLL
Ricuarp F. RusseLL, Esq.
Ronarp B. C. Ryarr, Esq.
Mgrs. A. D. Ryper

THE REvV. RALPH SADLEIR
Mmrs. RALPH SADLEIR

Miss Enip St. Aubyn

THeE MARQUESS oF SaLissury, K.G.
Tue Lorp SaLter, G.B.E., K.C.B.
The Lapy SALTER

Miss EVELYN SAMUEL

Miss E. Sanps

Miss DAPHNE SANGER

Miss Maisie SCHWARTZE
Mmrs, DUDLEY Scorr
*Miss IsaBer Scorr-ELLioT
R. W. SuarrLES, EsqQ.

Mrs. M. V. E. Sura

A. B. H. Suears, Esq.

Mgs. C. H. SHEPHERD

Miss D. F. SHUCKBURGH
Miss M. D. SHUFELDT

Miss G. M. SiLcock

Carrainy G. M. SKINNER, R.N.
Miss Mary SouTtH

Hersert E. SpeLLs, Esq.

*Dr. PErRcY SriELMann, B.Sc., F.R.I.C.

*RICHARD STEWART-JONES, Esq.
*Miss VIoLET STILL
H. R. StowEeLL, Esq
Mpurs, H. G. STRAKER
*HenrY STRAUSS, Esq., Q.C., M.P,
Mnrs, HENRY STRAUSS
A. P. H. StripE, Esq.
Miss HiLpa M. STRUTHERS
WiLrreDp J. M. SyNGE, Esq.

Mrs. CHETWYND TaALBOT
*Miss GERALDINE TALBOT
Mnrs. T. F. TALLENTS
Tue Lapy Kenya TarTon-Brown

A. Gorpon TayLor, Esq.
*MRrs. S. SHELBOURNE TAYLOR
H. W. Tuesen, Esq.
*Mrs. G. L. THIRKELL
Miss E. TiaoMmson
*Mgrs. Donovan ToucHE
Lapy TROTTER

GranaMme B, Tusss, Eso.,, F.R.IB.A.

Mgs. Percy TuBss

G. L. TunsriDcE, EsQ.

MRrs. G. L. TUNBRIDGE
Raymonp C. TweEDALE, Esq.

Drrek VErscHoyLE, EsQ.
Sir GEOFFREY VICKERS, V.C.
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